THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001226

Opinion No. 2021-UP-259 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 7, 2021)

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

v.

James Kester,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Dayne C. Phillips, Esq.
SC Bar No. 77712
Price Benowitz LLP
1614 Taylor Street, Suite D
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 807-0234
Attorney for Petitioner

RECEIVED

NOV 29 2021

SC Court of Appeals

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the Trial Court's ruling that Petitioner waived his right to counsel by failing to order a competency to stand trial evaluation before granting his request for self-representation based on Petitioner's colloquy with the Trial Court?
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the Trial Court's ruling that Petitioner waived his right to counsel when he did not comprehend the dangers of self-representation?
- III. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the Trial Court's incorrect statement to Petitioner prior to jury selection that he had ten peremptory strikes when Petitioner detrimentally relied on this information and struck a potential juror before the Trial Court informed him that only had five strikes?
- IV. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the Trial Court's refusal to grant a mistrial when the Trial Court provided an unconstitutionally coercive *Allen* charge to the jury when viewed in its context and under all the circumstances?
- V. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the Trial Court's imposition of consecutive sentences that constituted a *de facto* life sentence when the grossly disproportionate aggregate sentence is cruel and unusual punishment based on comparative sentences and closely connected offenses?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

On September 13, 2017, the Richland County Grand Jury issued indictments against Petitioner James Kester for twelve counts of Attempted Murder. (R. 451 – 468).

On October 4, 2018, Petitioner appeared before the Honorable Clifton Newman for a pre-trial hearing based on his request to represent himself and to relieve his retained counsel (John Delgado and Bill Nettles) who were also present at the hearing. Assistant Solicitor Vance Eaton appeared on behalf of the State. The Trial Court granted Petitioner's motions to relieve counsel and to represent himself. (R. 29, lines 4-6).

On October 8, 2018, Petitioner proceeded to trial *pro se* with standby counsel (John Delgado and Bill Nettles) before the Honorable Clifton Newman and a jury. (R. 31). Assistant Solicitors Vance Eaton and Samuel McGlothin prosecuted the case on behalf of the State.

On October 10, 2018, the jury found Petitioner guilty on eight counts of Assault and Battery, First Degree, and one count of Assault and Battery, Third Degree. (R. 386, line 13 – 389, line 10). The jury also found Petitioner not guilty on three counts of Attempted Murder. (R. 386, lines 20-24; R. 388, lines 17-21; R. 389, lines 3-7).

On October 12, 2018, the Trial Court sentenced Petitioner to ten (10) years imprisonment for each conviction of Assault and Battery, First Degree, and thirty (30) days imprisonment on the conviction for Assault and Battery, Third Degree. (R. 439, lines 2-23). The Trial Court ordered Petitioner to serve the sentences consecutively. (R. 439, lines 24-25).

On October 17, 2018, standby counsel timely filed a Notice of Appeal in the South Carolina Court of Appeals. The State filed its Final Brief of Respondent on October 2, 2019. (App. 531 – 558). Petitioner filed its Final Brief of Appellant on October 4, 2019. (App. 484 – 530).

On July 7, 2021, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentences. *State v. Kester*, Op. No. 2021-UP-259 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 7, 2021). (App. 559 – 563). Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing on July 22, 2021. App. (564 – 571). The Court of Appeals issued an Order denying the petition for rehearing on October 1, 2021. (App. 572).

Petitioner seeks a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' decision.

B. Background

The State's theory of the case: Petitioner intentionally struck twelve people with his car at a cemetery. Specifically, the State sought to prove that Petitioner went to the burial service because of his deceased daughter's prior involvement with the South Carolina Department of Mental Health (SCDMH), and the funeral's connection to a woman who had worked at the SCDMH. Petitioner consistently maintained that he "blacked out" and did not intend to hurt anyone with his car, essentially arguing the defense of accident.

C. Waiver of Right to Counsel

On October 4, 2018, Petitioner appeared before the Trial Court for a pre-trial hearing with his attorneys, John Delgado and Bill Nettles. (R. 1.) Assistant Solicitor Eaton informed the Trial Court that "[Petitioner] is first up next week on twelve counts of attempted murder from July 2017" and that Petitioner "intends to represent himself[.]" (R. 4, lines 6-11). Defense Counsel Delgado acknowledged their representation of Petitioner: "We are counsel in this case, and we do think it would be a mistake" for Petitioner to represent himself. R. 4, ll. 20-21. Delgado further explained, "*We know his case well enough that we'd say he needs counsel and we'd like him to stay with us.*" R. 5, lines 3-4 (emphasis added).

In response to the Trial Court's questions, Petitioner maintained that he wanted to represent himself and that his current lawyers could remain as stand-by counsel. (R. 5, line 22 – 6, line 14).

Petitioner informed the Trial Court that he was sixty-six years old, retired/unemployed, and had studied “three years of college at the University of South Carolina.” (R. 6, lines 15-24). Petitioner also told the Trial Court that he had “several different jobs” during his life: Landscaping, Allen Chemical Company, caretaker for his mother, and “took care of my daughter [for] about twenty years because she got ruined by the Department of Mental Health.” (R. 6, line 22 – 7, line 14).

Petitioner further maintained that he had never been treated for alcohol, drugs, or mental illness. (R. 7, lines 15-24; R. 8, lines 12-18). Assistant Solicitor Eaton interjected, “In this case *there was a retained psychiatrist*, Your Honor.” (R. 7, line 25 – 8, line 1) (emphasis added). The Trial Court then asked Defense Counsel, “Okay, and what was his finding, Mr. Delgado?” Delgado replied, “[Petitioner] was competent to give testimony, competent to stand trial.” R. 8, ll. 2-8. The Trial Court asked Petitioner if he agreed with Delgado’s statement about the psychiatrist’s findings, and he responded, “Yes, sir.” (R. 8, lines 9-10). Petitioner also maintained that he fully understood and comprehended the nature of the hearing. (R. 8, lines 19-21). The Trial Court further explored, “Are you aware of any physical, any emotional or nervous problems, or anything that might affect your ability to understand what we are assessing here today, sir?” and Petitioner replied, “I understand completely.” (R. 8, line 22 – 9, line 1).

The Trial Court next inquired, “Have you ever studied the law before?” and Petitioner replied, “I’ve read law books about the law, and *I don’t know too much about it.*” (R. 9, lines 4-12) (emphasis added). The Trial Court continued questioning Petitioner, “Have you ever been in criminal court before?” In response, Petitioner provided the following explanation of his experience from a Magistrate Court Jury Trial:

No, Sir. I had one small misdemeanor and that’s all. That was 1990 . . . For some reason, the police arrested me and charged me with four things and I defended myself, and they stacked the charges so much that I - - I was acquitted on two of them and two I was not. I

think I had three weekends in jail and that was the extent of it.

(R. 9, line 13 – 10, line 12) (emphasis added).

The Trial Court then advised Petitioner that he was charged with twelve counts of attempted Murder, and Petitioner indicated that he understood the charges and maximum possible sentences. (R. 10, lines 15-20). Petitioner also told the Trial Court, “I’ve got a Five Million Dollar bond, and I see guys who have been there [Alvin S. Glenn Detention Center] for killing - - I see guys with two or three killings who get out on a Hundred to a Hundred and Fifty Thousand [dollar bond].” (R. 11, lines 8-12). This response prompted the Trial Court to reiterate that his questions were related to the possible punishment for Petitioner’s charges. (R. 11, lines 13-20).

The Trial Court continued and asked Petitioner if he knew the elements for attempted murder, and Petitioner responded, “Yes, sir.” (R. 11, lines 21-24). The Trial Court broadly reviewed the definition of attempted murder with Petitioner. The Trial Court further inquired of Petitioner, “How do you want to get rid of [the charges for attempted murder]?”, and Petitioner provided the following response:

Well, you know, to me I’ve been incompetent up to now, and now I’m trying to get the discovery. I’m trying to get from the State a few things. I didn’t get the discovery until a few days ago.

When I called [Defense Counsel,] they never took my call but maybe two times in fifteen months I’ve been incarcerated. You know, so I nodded off on it.

You know, they’ve got a lot of things. They’ve got a Hundred Thousand Dollars which is a lot of money, and I don’t expect to get all if I paid (sic) that much but, I mean, I know I have got no justice from my lawyers.

I think [Defense Counsel] they have been negligent and due diligence I know has been fairly minimum, and since there’s no due diligence.

(R. 13, lines 2-15) (emphasis added). The Trial Court noted Defense Counsels’ experience as

criminal defense lawyers and informed Petitioner that hybrid counsel is not allowed: “You will be on your own in trying your case except for being able to consult with [Defense Counsel].” (R. 15, line 25 – 16, line 1).

The Trial Court continued with the colloquy, “It may be that you are familiar with the rules of criminal procedure” and Petitioner interjected, “*I’m not too familiar with that.*” (R. 16, lines 3-7) (emphasis added). The Trial Court then asked, “Are you familiar with the rules of evidence?” Petitioner replied, “The rules of evidence in my case would be -- I’m pretty sure I know that, yes, sir.” (R. 16, line 8-10). The Trial Court further questioned Petitioner about “hearsay” and the knowledge required to understand the rules of evidence. (R. 16, line 19 – 17, line 7). Petitioner responded simply, “*Well, I may not be that familiar with it but I know what it is.*” (R. 17, lines 8-9) (emphasis added). The Trial Court asked, “Do you have any motions that you plan to make concerning anything?”, and Petitioner stated, “*I might need a little help or something about that.*” (R. 17, lines 10-13) (emphasis added).

The Trial Court proceeded to explain that Petitioner had the right to decide whether to testify, and if he did testify, the State could ask him questions. (R. 17, lines 17-25). The Trial Court continued questioning Petitioner, “Are you ready to go to trial on Monday?” In response, Petitioner stated:

Like I said, I just got some stuff today that I probably should have got a long time ago or maybe within a few days. [Defense Counsel] said he just got it from the prosecution. I’ve got to get up to speed on it but I think I am though. I’ve got to do some preparation but I think I am though.

(R. 19, lines 8-16) (emphasis added).

The Trial Court reiterated that Petitioner had “highly skilled lawyers” who “have given good results to many clients”. R. 23, ll. 1-4. In response, Petitioner stated that “I didn’t see it with

me though. *Like I said, I'm playing catch up right now with some stuff they are giving me - - right now.*" (R. 23, lines 5-7) (emphasis added). The Trial Court asked Petitioner if he needed more time regarding the decision to represent himself, and Petitioner replied, "I've made up my mind, yes." R. 23, ll. 22-25.

After confirming Petitioner's request to represent himself and to have stand-by counsel, the Trial Court told Petitioner, "[I]f you change your mind and you decide that you want to - - that you are over your head and you better let the lawyers take over just let me know at any point in time[.]" (R. 24, lines 1-15). Notably, Petitioner indicated his lack of experience and knowledge of the State's case:

I've been there [in jail] for fifteen months . . . and this is really my first stay in jail, . . . the lawyers know the facts . . . [A]s far as mental, . . . I've never had a trial. I've never been on any anti-psychotic drugs. That's what they demolish my daughter with, and I tried to stop it but they banned me from even seeing her for six hundred days. That is what they did. So when she got out she didn't even know what her name was.

(R. 24, line 23 – 25, line 8 (emphasis added). Petitioner also provided the following response to the Trial Court about his knowledge of the plea negotiations in his case:

Yeah, [Defense Counsel] they tried to get them [the State] to reduce the charges for a plea bargain, and - - and, like I said, my daughter was given so much toxic drugs that she couldn't take it anymore.

So people who have got mental problems, people with poor mental health, I mean, I got - - I got that in writing. One day she drank straight forty glasses of water her brain was cooked so bad. In the middle of the night she'd be hollering, please help. . . . I mean, I tried different things and I got arrested at the time for going to visit her when they denied it, and they threw the case out because they did have a trespass in the Department of Mental Health. They went to the General Assembly and got a (inaudible) and solely because of me.

I mean, after they threw my case out I went to the General Assembly. I don't even think they are allowed to do that to one individual but

they did it anyway.

(R. 26, line 12 – 27, line 13) (emphasis added).

After the Trial Court explained that he does not know the specific facts of Petitioner's case, Petitioner noted:

With all that's going on, I'm worried I left out something while they were doing this to my daughter. *You said had I been under any stress, and I should have said yes. I lost my left eye due to this and I've been trying to get them to get those records that they been telling me a year that they did and that is another thing. Like I said, they've been negligent and that's why I had to do this.*

(R. 27, line 20 – 28, line 3) (emphasis added). Petitioner reiterated, "Well, they rarely took my phone calls over all the time but two times. Maybe they will now, you know." (R. 28, lines 21-22). The Court ultimately ruled, "I am granting your motion to relieve them [Defense Counsel] and for you to proceed to represent yourself. Be sure to be ready to go on Monday at this point." (R. 29, lines 4-6). During the trial, Petitioner did not ask a majority of the witnesses any questions on cross-examination and made very few objections to the State's evidence.

During the sentencing hearing, Petitioner reiterated to the Trial Court: "*I've been under immense stress from my daughter just dying within a year and all I went through with her, with what they did to her.*" (R. 429, lines 1-3) (emphasis added). Petitioner further noted that he blacked out and did not intend for the incident to occur: "*I have PTSD. That's what I've had over the last twenty years.*" (R. 435, lines 17-18) (emphasis added). The Trial Court acknowledged Petitioner's mental health issue: "*If you needed some type of therapy, mental health for yourself or medication or whatever you might have needed, if you needed it, it would have been best for you to have taken that course rather than decide to plow into this group of people.*" (R. 437, lines 18-24) (emphasis added). Petitioner subsequently interjected, "*I think the people who did this to my daughter should be brought to justice. They poisoned her, they made malicious lies up about*

me.” (R. 438, lines 16-18).

D. Remaining Facts

The remaining facts necessary for an understanding of the issues raised in this appeal are summarized within each issue section.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING THAT PETITIONER WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL BY FAILING TO ORDER A COMPETENCY TO STAND TRIAL EVALUATION BEFORE GRANTING HIS REQUEST FOR SELF-REPRESENTATION BASED ON PETITIONER'S COLLOQUY WITH THE TRIAL COURT.

Due process prohibits the conviction of a person who is mentally incompetent. *See In re Antonio H.*, 319 S.C. 395, 399, 461 S.E.2d 825, 827 (Ct. App. 1995) (citing *Jeter v. State*, 308 S.C. 230, 417 S.E.2d 594 (1992) and *Pate v. Robinson*, 383 U.S. 375 (1966)). In *State v. Blair*, this Court held that a defendant's failure to request a competency hearing did not constitute a waiver of his right to a hearing where the defendant's sanity was the crucial issue. *See State v. Blair*, 275 S.C. 529, 532-33, 273 S.E.2d 536, 537 (1981). The *Blair* Court held that "[t]he standard for determining whether an accused is entitled to a competency to stand trial hearing has been set forth in a recent case interpreting *Pate v. Robinson*." *Id.* Notably, the United States Supreme Court explained that "[t]he import of our decision in *Pate v. Robinson* is that evidence of a defendant's irrational behavior, his demeanor at trial and any prior medical opinion on competence to stand trial are all relevant in determining whether further inquiry is required, but that even one of these factors, standing alone, may, in some circumstances, be sufficient." *Drope v. Missouri*, 420 U.S. 162, 180 (1975).

In *State v. Barnes*, this Court "decline[d] to impose a higher competency standard upon an individual who wishes to waive his right to an attorney and represent himself at trial than that required for the waiver of other fundamental constitutional rights afforded a criminal defendant, such as the right against compulsory self-incrimination; the right to trial by jury; and the right to confront one's accusers." *State v. Barnes*, 407 S.C. 27, 36, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014). Therefore, the *Barnes* Court held that one of the factors a presiding judge may have to address in deciding

whether a defendant has waived the right to counsel is whether the defendant is competent to stand trial, and “[a] defendant who is competent to stand trial is also competent to waive these fundamental rights and plead guilty.” *Id.* (citing *Sims v. State*, 313 S.C. 420, 438 S.E.2d 253 (1993)).

The test for determining whether a criminal defendant is competent to stand trial is “whether he has sufficient present ability to consult with his lawyer with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and whether he has a rational as well as a factual understanding of the proceedings against him.” *Dusky v. United States*, 362 U.S. 402 (1960). Section 44-23-410(A) of the South Carolina Code of Laws provides, in pertinent part: “Whenever a [trial court] has reason to believe that a person on trial before him, charged with the commission of a criminal offense . . . , is not fit to stand trial because the person lacks the capacity to understand the proceedings against him or to assist in his own defense as a result of a lack of mental capacity, the [court] shall . . . order [an evaluation]” *See Blair*, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (interpreting the language of S.C. Code § 44-23-430 as mandatory, which provides that the court *shall* set a competency hearing after ordering an evaluation of defendant's competency under S.C. Code § 44-23-410)).

Discussion

In this case, the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the Trial Court's failure to order a competency to stand trial evaluation or conduct an adequate *Blair* hearing to determine Petitioner's competency to stand trial before granting his request for self-representation based on the following reasons: (1) Petitioner's responses during the colloquy with the Trial Court; and (2) the Trial Court's failure to obtain and review the private psychiatric evaluation; and (3) the Trial Court's inadequate colloquy with Defense Counsel regarding the private psychiatric evaluation. (R. 4, line 20 – 8, line 10). *See In re Antonio H.*, 319 S.C. at 399, 461 S.E.2d at 827; *Blair*, 275 S.C. at 532-

33, 273 S.E.2d at 537; *see generally Robinson*, 383 U.S. 375 (finding when evidence of a defendant's mental deficiencies raise doubt as to his competence, due process requires the judge to order a competency hearing).

Petitioner's responses regarding the connection between his daughter and the SCDMH, along with the existence of a private competency to stand trial evaluation, necessitated more than the Trial Court simply asking for the result of the evaluation (i.e., required an evidentiary hearing). Specifically, the Trial Court failed to review any additional evidence (e.g., the private evaluation), ask any further questions (e.g., no inquiry into the information related to the private evaluation and Petitioner's mental health).

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