RECEIVED

Jan 06 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001226
Opinion No. 2021-UP-259 (S.C. Ct. App. filed July 7, 2021)

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES KESTER,

Petitioner.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOSHUA A. EDWARDS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

Kester claims the court erred by "fail[ing] to conduct a competency hearing." But Judge Newman did conduct a lengthy hearing to address Kester's motion, a great deal of which was spent in a colloquy with Kester during which Judge Newman inquired about Kester's life history, including his mental health. Judge Newman learned that Kester graduated high school, attended three years of college as a math major, held several jobs, and spent years as a caretaker for his disabled daughter. (App. 11-12). Kester intelligently answered the court's questions and told

the court he completely understood the proceedings against him. (App. 14). His complaints about his lawyers were rational, centering on his assertion that they had not been communicative with him leading up to trial and had not shared discovery with him in a timely manner. (App. 18). He indicated he understood the elements of attempted murder. (App. 17). Kester's responses demonstrated an understanding of the proceedings against him and the mental capacity to defend himself as well as could be expected for a non-lawyer. Judge Newman would have erred if he had denied Kester's request. See State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 36, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014).

Furthermore, Kester has not shown prejudice because the end result he asserts should have occurred—a competency exam—*has already occurred*. Kester was evaluated by a medical professional of defense counsel's choosing and found to be competent. (App. 13). The court was aware of this and neither Kester, his attorneys, nor the solicitor requested any further evaluation. Tellingly, Kester's lawyers represented to the court that he was competent and capable of self-representation. John Delgado told the court that he believed Kester had "been responsible enough that he can sit here and act and we can stay here as stand-by counsel for him." (App. 10). Surely, if either of Kester's eminently qualified and experienced lawyers had any doubts about his competency, they would have informed the court.

This case illustrates the "damned if you do, damned if you don't" nature of pro se representation requests, where the trial court's decision will be raised on appeal no matter how he rules. It also illustrates the wisdom of the highly deferential standard of review in competency cases, because the trial judge sits in a much better position to ascertain the defendant's faculties and evaluate his mental capacity. State v. Colden, 372 S.C. 428, 441, 641 S.E.2d 912, 920 (Ct. App. 2007). Judge Newman had no reason to believe Kester was

incompetent, and he did not abuse his discretion by declining to sua sponte order any additional evaluation. Rather, Judge Newman correctly recognized he was required to honor Kester's unequivocal request to exercise his fundamental constitutional right to represent himself, as our state appellate courts and the United States Supreme Court have repeatedly instructed. See State v. Samuel, 422 S.C. 596, 813 S.E.2d 487 (2018). Evidence supports the trial court's ruling. Certiorari should be denied.

II.

Kester's argument that the trial court erred by "advising" him on the number of jury strikes is not preserved for review because the issue was not raised or ruled on by the trial court. Even if preserved, Kester has not shown error because it was his responsibility to know the correct number of strikes. Finally, he suffered no prejudice because the court gratuitously struck a sixth juror for cause, and there is no evidence that any of the seated jurors were biased against him.

Kester claims the trial court erred by "advising" him during the pretrial hearing that he had ten peremptory jury strikes, when in fact he had five. Kester's argument is not preserved for review because he did not raise the issue at trial despite being given a clear opportunity. Furthermore, it is not the trial court's responsibility to "advise" a pro se defendant on the applicable law. Pro se litigants are held to the same standards as attorneys, and it was Kester's responsibility to know the correct number of strikes. Finally, Kester has not shown prejudice because the court gratuitously struck a sixth juror for cause, and there is no evidence that any of the seated jurors were biased against him. Certiorari should be denied.

Relevant facts.

Towards the end of the pretrial hearing held the week before trial, the court's colloquy with Kester briefly turned to jury selection. Seeking to demonstrate to the court that he understood the jury selection process, Kester asserted the prosecutor would have five strikes and "we'll have ten." (App. 25). Apparently without giving it much thought, Judge Newman agreed that "you'll have ten," and continued to explain the trial process. At trial the following week, jury selection began but neither Kester, the prosecutor, nor stand-by counsel brought up the number of strikes. After Kester struck the first potential juror, the court interjected that "The strikes are actually five and five, not five and ten." (App. 55). After Kester struck a second juror, the court reminded him that he had "Two down and three to go." (App. 55). Kester then

responded, “I thought I had ten,” to which the court responded, “Initially I did as well, but not for attempted murder.” Kester accepted the court’s response and continued with jury selection. (App. 84).

Error Preservation.

This issue is not preserved for review. Kester’s confusion about jury strikes became apparent after he struck a second juror. The trial court repeated that Kester had five strikes. (App. 84). Kester indicated he thought he had ten strikes, and the court informed him that “Initially I did as well, but not for attempted murder.” Kester responded only by saying “Okay.” Judge Newman gave Kester a clear opportunity to raise the issue after jury selection, asking the parties whether they had “any matters of law regarding the jury selection.” Kester responded, “No, your honor.” (App. 101). Thus, Kester both affirmatively accepted the trial court’s ruling and failed to raise the issue when given a clear opportunity. State v. Morris, 307 S.C. 480, 486, 415 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 1992) (affirmatively accepting trial court’s ruling waives issue on appeal); Stephens v. CSX Transportation, Inc., 400 S.C. 503, 514, 735 S.E.2d 505, 511 (Ct. App. 2012) (an issue not raised and ruled on by the trial court is not preserved for appeal because the trial court did not have an “opportunity to exercise its discretion”). Given Kester’s statement that he had no complaints about jury selection, the court was justified in believing Kester was satisfied with the makeup of the jury and did not want to re-do the selection process. Kester should not be allowed to complain now on appeal after explicitly stating he had no objections at trial. Because Kester did not raise this issue at trial or ask the court for relief, he failed to preserve the issue for appeal.

Responsibilities of a pro se litigant.

Even if preserved, Kester has not demonstrated error on the part of the trial judge. While Judge Newman mistakenly agreed with Kester's pretrial assertion that he would have ten strikes, Kester had plenty of time to refer to the relevant statute and confirm this important procedural rule. He failed to do so. A pro se litigant who knowingly elects to represent himself assumes full responsibility for complying with substantive and procedural requirements of the law. State v. Burton, 356 S.C. 259, 266, 589 S.E.2d 6, 9, n. 5 (2003). It was not the trial court's responsibility to advise him of the applicable law before trial began.

In fairness to Judge Newman and the parties, the confusion about the number of strikes in an attempted murder case is an easy mistake to make, evidenced by the fact that neither standby counsel nor the prosecutor caught the mistake. The fact that defendants are given only five strikes instead of ten in attempted murder cases is an anomaly in our law compared to other comparably serious offenses. See S.C. Code Ann. § 14-7-1110. But even if the trial court mistakenly believed Kester was entitled to ten strikes, he did not have the discretion to give Kester more. Accordingly, this case is distinguishable from State v. Jones, 343 S.C. 562, 541 S.E.2d 813 (2001), where the defendant relied on the court's assertion—made during trial—that he would give a certain jury charge. Judge Newman's only option was to start the selection process over again. Judge Newman gave Kester a clear opportunity to request this, asking the parties whether they had "any matters of law regarding the jury selection." Kester responded, "No, your honor." (App. 101). The trial court was not required to make Kester's motion for him. See Martinez v. Court of Appeal of California, Fourth Appellate Dist., 528 U.S. 152, 162 (2000) ("A trial judge is under no duty to provide personal instruction on courtroom procedure or to perform any legal 'chores' for the defendant that counsel would normally carry out."). Kester has not demonstrated error on the part of the trial court.

Prejudice.

Even if the court erred, Kester suffered no prejudice. A defendant has no right to trial by a particular jury. State v. Evins, 373 S.C. 404, 416, 645 S.E.2d 904, 910 (2007). Kester has not identified any seated juror who had any bias against him. The jurors seated after Kester exhausted his strikes were a car salesman, a school principal, a worker at a pharmaceutical plant, a hospital support specialist, a quality assurance manager at an army hospital, a student, and an employee of Lexington Medical Center. (App. 84-97). Kester raised no objections to any of these jurors, and there is no reason to believe they were any less favorable to him than others in the jury pool. See State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 113, 631 S.E.2d 244, 248 (2006) (holding defendant was not prejudiced by improper Batson challenge because he was not denied legitimate strikes and there was no evidence jury was “tainted” by re-selection), abrogated on other grounds by State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016). The possibility that he “might have” used his strikes differently is not sufficient to show he was denied an impartial jury.

The one juror to whom Kester did object after exhausting his strikes was employed by the Public Safety Division of the Department of Mental Health. (App. 94). Judge Newman (perhaps sensing the potential for unfairness) struck this juror for cause, even though the juror stated during voir dire that she had formed no opinion about the case and did not stand when the potential jurors were asked if there was any reason why any of them could not be fair and impartial. (App. 71, line 15; 78–81). The juror did not know any of the witnesses, which included Livingston’s friends and family. (App. 73). Judge Newman did not strike a similarly situated juror for cause, even though her husband was a psychiatrist at DMH. (App. 86–87). Thus, it appears the trial judge essentially gave Kester an extra strike to avoid any danger of

unfairness. The judge also gave Kester extra leeway to conduct voir dire, allowing him to ask specific questions of potential jurors. (App. 90; 95–96). Accordingly, Kester has not demonstrated prejudice. See State v. Motley, 251 S.C. 568, 575, 164 S.E.2d 569, 572 (1968) (explaining that the burden is on the Appellant to satisfy the court that there was prejudicial error). Certiorari should be denied.

III.

The court's Allen charge was not coercive because it did not convey that the jurors were required to reach a verdict.

Kester claims the trial court's Allen charge was unconstitutionally coercive. This argument is not preserved for review because Kester did not object to the language of the charge at trial. Even if preserved, the charge was not coercive because it did not instruct the jurors that they were required to reach a verdict and was not directed at minority jurors. Instead, it correctly instructed the jurors to attempt to reach a unanimous verdict while at the same time not relinquishing their firmly-held beliefs merely for the sake of unanimity. Certiorari should be denied.

Standard of review.

In reviewing a trial judge's jury instructions, an appellate court must view the jury charge as a whole and in light of the evidence and issues from trial. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 178, 682 S.E.2d 19, 36 (Ct. App. 2009). A jury charge which is substantially correct and covers the law does not require reversal. State v. Ezell, 321 S.C. 421, 425, 468 S.E.2d 679, 681 (Ct. App. 1996).

Error preservation.

Kester did not object at trial on the same specific ground he raises on appeal. At trial, he objected to the court giving an Allen charge at all, urging mistrial was the only proper solution when the jury indicated they had not come to a unanimous verdict "concerning all twelve counts." (App. 386–89). He never claimed the charge itself was coercive, and never objected to the "hope you can arrive at a verdict" language he cites on appeal (or any other language in the charge). Accordingly, this issue is not preserved for review. State v. Prioleau, 345 S.C. 404, 411, 548 S.E.2d 213, 216 (2001) (explaining a party may not argue one ground at trial and

another on appeal); State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 120, 481 S.E.2d 118, 123 (1997) (objection must be entered on a specific ground at trial to preserve the issue for appeal).

Discussion.

Even if preserved, the argument is meritless. A trial judge has a duty to urge a jury to make every reasonable effort to reach a verdict. Green v. State, 351 S.C. 184, 194, 569 S.E.2d 318, 323 (2002); Allen v. United States, 164 U.S. 492, 493 (1896). As long as he does not coerce them into unanimity, such a charge is proper. When reviewing an Allen charge to determine if it was unconstitutionally coercive, the appellate court must judge the charge in the proper context and under the totality of the circumstances. Dawson v. State, 352 S.C. 15, 20, 572 S.E.2d 445, 447 (2002). Factors that may be considered include: (1) whether the charge was specifically directed at minority jurors; (2) whether the charge included any mandatory language about the necessity to return a verdict; (3) whether the trial judge made any inquiries into the jury's numerical division; and (4) how long the jury's deliberations lasted. Tucker v. Catoe, 346 S.C. 483, 493-494, 552 S.E.2d 712, 717-718 (2001).

None of those factors weigh against the State here. The trial court did not direct its comments towards the minority jurors, and it was not aware of the numerical division between them. Nor did the court instruct the jurors that they "must" arrive at a decision. See State v. Williams, 386 S.C. 503, 515, 690 S.E.2d 62, 68 (2010) (finding no error in the trial judge's charge in part because it did not include language such as "You have got to reach a decision in this case"). On the contrary, the court advised the jurors to "carefully consider and respect the opinion of each other and reevaluate your position, if necessary, for reasonableness, correctness, and impartiality," while also explaining that they "certainly should not give up [their] firmly held beliefs merely to be in agreement with [their] fellow jurors." (App. 388). This is an appropriate

Allen charge. Finally, the jurors deliberated for another two hours after the charge was given, and gave Kester every benefit of the doubt by acquitting him of Attempted Murder and ABHAN on each charge. There was no coercion.

Kester relies on the Williams case to support his argument that the charge was coercive. However, the Williams court *affirmed* an almost identical charge, finding it “was not coercive.” State v. Williams, 386 S.C. 503, 515, 690 S.E.2d 62, 68 (2010). While the court did express discomfort with the phrase “with the hope that you can arrive at a verdict” because it “could potentially be construed as being coercive,” the court found the charge as a whole was proper. Id., 386 S.C. at 515, 690 S.E.2d at 68, n.7. Certiorari should be denied.

IV.

The trial court lawfully sentenced Kester within the statutory range.

Kester claims his sentence violates the Eighth Amendment prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment because it was grossly disproportionate to his crime. This contention has no merit in light of the heinous nature of the crime. Certiorari should be denied.

Standard of review.

A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law. State v. Dawson, 402 S.C. 160, 163, 740 S.E.2d 501, 502 (2013). An appellate court has no jurisdiction to review a sentence, provided it is within the limits provided by statute for the discretion of the trial court, and is not the result of prejudice, oppression or corrupt motive. State v. Franklin, 267 S.C. 240, 246, 226 S.E.2d 896, 898 (1976).

Legality of consecutive sentences.

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